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The site of that historic [Sand Creek] affair has not been marked.

If it were possible, we, as a nation, doubtless had rather the event
could be forgotten.

—Walter M. Camp,

Proceedings of the Annual Meeting and Dinner

of the Order of Indian Wars of the United States

Held January Seventeenth Nineteen Hundred and Twenty
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FOREWORD

The place was well known to all the Cheyennes and Arapahos
and they used it as a camping ground for many years.

George Bent, quoted in

Life of George Bent: Written from His Letters

Look in any direction and the view stretches out uninter-
rupted, as the old adage goes, as far as the eye can see. The
site of the Sand Creek Massacre, located in Kiowa County in
southeastern Colorado, is far from the mountains that conjure
up most popular images of the state. Gently rolling prairie
grassland, the landscape is closer to that of Kansas, which bor-
ders the county on the east. Kiowa County, with an average of
less than one person per square mile, is one of Colorado’s most
rural, undeveloped areas. And on a recent visit to the Sand Creek
Massacre site, I was again impressed, as I had been so many
times during the past few years, by how it was another of the
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many ironies of Sand Creek that such a profoundly peaceful
place could have been the scene of such horror. Because within
this place, along a five-mile stretch of land along a creek filled
with more sand than water, one of the most brutal events in
western history took place. And even though the physical land-
scape is wide open, the mental one is soon overwhelmed, for
it becomes impossible not to imagine the sounds and scenes
of November 29, 1864—the images of horse-mounted soldiers
streaming in from several directions, of surprised and terrified
Cheyenne and Arapaho villagers desperately trying to save
themselves by digging shelters in the sand, and of mutilations
and deaths, and the sounds of gunshots, howitzer fire, and
screams.

Often during the two years that I was part of the National
Park Service (NPS) project team that helped locate the Sand
Creek Massacre site, I listened to the descendants of massacre
survivors speak of the voices they heard in this place. For
them, those voices were the only proof needed to confirm that
this area was, indeed, the site of the massacre. But the govern-
mental processes for national-historic-site establishment require
more-tangible, “scientific” evidence. So in 1998, through the
efforts of Senator Ben Nighthorse Campbell, Congress passed
the Sand Creek Massacre National Historic Site Study Act,
which directed the NPS to work with the Northern Cheyenne
Tribe, the Northern Arapaho Tribe, and the Southern Cheyenne
and Arapaho Tribes of Oklahoma, as well as the Colorado
Historical Society, to verify the location of the massacre. At
that time the site was a matter of great speculation. Many
believed it took place along a section of Sand Creek referred
to as the South Bend. But although archeologists had walked
across nearly every square foot of the inside corner of that
bend, they had not found the physical proof they sought,
leading some to think that the site was elsewhere. The discus-
sion was more than academic. The lack of consensus regarding
the massacre location hindered efforts to list the site on the
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National Register of Historic Places and to respond to repeated
requests by Cheyennes and Arapahos to establish a memorial
at the site.

That uncertainty came to an end in May 1999, when the
Sand Creek Massacre Project team completed its successful
search for the site. Following months of research, the project
team focused its archeological efforts on a number of areas
along Sand Creek. At one site within the South Bend the crews
found what they were seeking. One hundred and thirty five
years after the massacre, they pulled out of the soil the shat-
tered plates, utensils, hide scrapers, awls, and personal items
that once belonged to the Cheyennes and Arapahos who were
camped at Sand Creek, along with fragments of the weapons
used to attack and kill them.

Jerome A. Greene and Douglas D. Scott were integral to the
success of this effort. By the time they began work on the Sand
Creek project, Jerry and Doug, both of whom are NPS employ-
ees, had well-deserved reputations as experts in the field of the
Indian wars, as evidenced by their individual and collaborative
work at Little Bighorn, Washita, and elsewhere. As the pro-
ject’s lead historian, Jerry examined all known historical doc-
uments—maps, diaries, firsthand accounts by Indian and mil-
itary witnesses, and congressional investigative reports—that
could shed light on the massacre location. The project method-
ology also called for this research, as well as the oral histories
of Sand Creek descendants, to be completed prior to the field-
work so that the archeologists could focus on the sites most
likely to yield evidence of the event. I, among others, was ini-
tially surprised when Jerry’s primary recommendation was a
place approximately one mile north of the area that most peo-
ple believed to be the massacre site. But his reasoning would
prove to be correct. Just a few weeks afterward, an archeolog-
ical survey team under lead field archeologist Doug Scott
uncovered over four hundred massacre-related artifacts on the
site Jerry had pinpointed.



XVviii FOREWORD

Simultaneous with Jerry’s efforts, Doug Scott also prepared
for the upcoming survey. He interviewed local artifact collec-
tors and, together with other team members, examined aerial
photographs, the earliest dating to the 1930s, for evidence of
historical trails leading to and from the massacre site. And,
upon Doug’s recommendation, the NPS conducted a geomor-
phological assessment of Sand Creek that identified, through
an analysis of soil samples, those specific landforms where
1864-era artifacts potentially could be recovered. Doug’s great-
est contributions, however, came in the field and his subse-
quent analysis of what was found. His report on the condition
and distribution of the artifacts and what they tell us about
what happened at Sand Creek stand at the heart of this volume.
Together with Jerry’s contributions and those of all the project-
team members, Doug’s work directly contributed to the suc-
cessful effort to authorize Sand Creek as a national historic site.

During the course of the Sand Creek project, many people
shared with us their hopes for the proposed national historic
site. Some saw it as a place of contemplation where people of all
backgrounds could come to learn from the past, to know more
about the Cheyennes and Arapahos who called this land home,
and to honor the victims. Many envisioned it as a healing place
that could promote cross-cultural understanding. But that
understanding is still more a hope than a certainty, and it must
be an ongoing process. Sand Creek is a landscape filled with so
much history, so much meaning, and so much pain that one
does not have to scratch too deeply beneath its surface to bring
forth powerful emotions. And even this book, an important
work of scholarship that presents in a very straightforward
manner the historical and archeological evidence that helped
lead to the long-term preservation of Sand Creek, is likely to
stir up such responses.

The Sand Creek project team was a complex, sometimes
uneasy alliance of tribal members, property owners, and govern-
ment employees. As the project’s team captain, I participated in
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numerous meetings at which the group seemed stressed to the
point of fracture. But ultimately, we would come together
because, fundamentally, we shared one common goal—to ver-
ify the location of the massacre so that Congress would have
the information it needed to protect and preserve this special
place for future generations. And as part of that effort, the group
worked extremely hard to achieve agreement upon the bound-
aries of the Sand Creek Massacre site as delivered to Congress
and as presented within this book. But although the project
team reached consensus on this, many members also made it
clear that they held differing beliefs as to where exactly within
those boundaries are the locations of some of the key events of
the Sand Creek Massacre, including the village site.

In this book Jerry and Doug, based on historical and arche-
ological evidence, identify the site of the Cheyenne and Ara-
paho village that was attacked by Colonel John Chivington’s
troops. While many will find that evidence compelling, it is
important to know that others do not, specifically Sand Creek
descendants who believe that it conflicts with oral histories and
traditional tribal knowledge. It also is important to understand
that the methodology for the Sand Creek project called for the
evaluation of four lines of evidence: historical documentation,
archeological survey, tribal oral histories, and traditional tribal
knowledge. As part of their many contributions to this project,
over thirty Cheyenne and Arapaho descendants of massacre
survivors shared stories that had been handed down through
the generations. Anyone wanting to read those oral histories
and learn more about the traditional tribal knowledge of the
site should refer to the final NPS report on this investigation,
Sand Creek Massacre Project, Site Location Study, as an addi-
tional reference on the subject. Future research, including addi-
tional archeological work, may resolve some of the differing
interpretations. But if the discussions surrounding these points
of view are fervent, they are only that way because Sand Creek
is so very important to so very many people. One of my many
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wishes for the Sand Creek Massacre National Historic Site is
that it will be a place where people can learn about all these
points of view, how such views are often shaped by cultural
differences, and how diverse cultures may have different inter-
pretations of what is evident and true. Rick Frost, who served
as the Sand Creek project manager, often commented that the
boundaries of the Sand Creek Massacre site are large enough
to accommodate more than one view of history.

My most recent visit to Sand Creek was on a cloudless,
hot August morning, and we were accompanying a group of
visitors who had never been there before. Among us was
rancher Bill Dawson, who recently sold a piece of Sand Creek
land that holds not only remains of the massacre but also rem-
nants of the line camp once used by his grandfather, a cowboy
during the days of the open range, when cattle replaced bison
on the land. Alexa Roberts, the NPS ethnographer who helped
Cheyenne and Arapaho descendants of Sand Creek record their
oral histories, and who is now the first site manager of the
Sand Creek Massacre National Historic Site, was with us too.
Also present was Rick Frost, associate director of public affairs
for the NPS Intermountain Region, who had overall responsi-
bility for the NPS project. We wished that Barbara Sutteer,
another key member of the Sand Creek project team who
served as its Indian liaison and who has since retired from the
NPS, was with us that day, as she had been on many other
occasions. As we walked to the area where many of the mas-
sacre artifacts had been uncovered, several of us commented
on how extraordinarily beautiful the site was that day and how
tall the grasses had grown now that the land was no longer
being grazed. We pointed out to the visitors the only spot of
high ground on the landscape, the bluff from which Chiving-
ton’s men first saw the village. We showed them the line of
trees that marks the otherwise barely discernible Sand Creek,
including the crucial bend of the creek that makes a ninety-
degree curve, with angles pointing north and east. And while
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we stood enclosed within the angles of that bend and talked
about the grasses and the view and what progress was being
made on opening the site to the public, my thoughts also wan-
dered elsewhere. I thought about what a remarkable journey
we all had taken to come to this place, how meaningful Sand
Creek had become in all of our lives, and how very grateful I
was for the opportunity to have been part of this project.

But for none of us is the effort to protect, preserve, and
memorialize the Sand Creek site more important than it is for
the Cheyenne and Arapaho descendants of the massacre. I am
very fortunate for having been able to know and work with the
tribal members of the Sand Creek Massacre Project team: Joe
Big Medicine, Eugene Black Bear Jr., Laird Cometsevah, Edward
Starr Jr., and Edward White Skunk of the Southern Cheyenne
Tribe; William “Lee” Pedro and Alonzo Sankey of the South-
ern Arapaho Tribe; Anthony A. Addison Sr., William J. C'Hair,
Hubert N. Friday, Burton Hutchinson, Joseph Oldman, Ben S.
Ridgely, Eugene J. Ridgely Sr., Gail J. Ridgely, and Nelson P.
White Sr. of the Northern Arapaho Tribe; and Steve Brady, Luke
Brady, Otto Braided Hair, Conrad Fisher, Norma Gourneau,
Reginald Killsnight Sr., Lee Lonebear, Mildred Red Cherries,
Holda Roundstone, and Joe Walks Along of the Northern
Cheyenne Tribe. While our connection to Sand Creek is recent,
Sand Creek is always with them, as it will be for their descen-
dants. It is they who hear the voices.

CHRISTINE WHITACRE
Historian, Intermountain Support Office
National Park Service
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PREFACE AND
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

his book is the product of many people’s time, interest,

and endeavor. It is a reflection of their contributions and
deep commitment to finding the site of the Sand Creek Mas-
sacre. For some, the journey to locate the site was intensely
personal and spiritual; for all, it was a meaningful experience
not soon to be forgotten. And in the end, it was the dedication
of all participants to the mission at hand that brought results.

The search for the Sand Creek Massacre site in 1998-99
was a multicultural as well as multidisciplinary effort. It
represented a coming together of not only members of the
Cheyenne and Arapaho peoples but also professionals from
several disciplines, including history, ethnography, geomor-
phology, remote imagery, and archeology. All brought valuable
perspectives and talents to the matter at hand, and the inter-
disciplinary contributions enabled the process to proceed
smoothly and with the maximum potential for success. While
most of the site-related effort involved archival investigation
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and interpretation by historians and on-site archeological exam-
ination and interpretation by archeologists, the contributions
from other fields supported this work and were manifested time
and again throughout the project. The National Park Service
Sand Creek Massacre Project team consisted of National Park
Service staff, Colorado Historical Society staff, and represen-
tatives of the Southern Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes of Okla-
homa, the Northern Cheyenne Tribe, and the Northern Ara-
paho Tribe. As part of the site-location process, Cheyenne and
Arapaho descendants of Sand Creek Massacre participants con-
tributed accounts that had been passed down through the gen-
erations. The National Park Service held public open houses,
encouraging local residents to come forward with information,
including possible evidence of the massacre that had been
found on their land. While historians researched maps, diaries,
reminiscences, and congressional reports for pertinent infor-
mation, historic aerial photographs, the earliest dating to the
1930s, were examined for evidence of historic trails leading to
and from the massacre site. Other efforts included a geomor-
phological assessment of Sand Creek that identified through
soil analysis those specific landforms where 1864-era artifacts
could potentially be recovered.

Certainly the multidisciplinary approach to solving his-
torical questions is not a new strategy and has been employed
successfully elsewhere. As a result of this enterprise, however,
the project team was able to conclusively identify the location
and extent of the Sand Creek Massacre. It must be pointed out,
however, that, while all team members acknowledge that the
massacre occurred within commonly agreed-upon boundaries,
some parties offered scenarios at variance with the National
Park Service’s interpretation of the historical documents and
archeological discoveries, as will be addressed herein. The
following narrative, based largely on the National Park Ser-
vice’s Sand Creek Massacre site location study, published
internally in 2000, is intended to exemplify the value of the
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interdisciplinary approach of history and archeology in locating
such historical sites as that at Sand Creek.

The authors wish to acknowledge the following individu-
als and institutions for their help in the initial study: Rick Frost,
project director; Christine Whitacre, team captain; Barbara Sut-
teer, Indian liaison; Alexa Roberts, ethnographer; Lysa Wegman-
French, historian; Arthur Ireland, Steven DeVore, Charles
Haecker, David Hammond, Christopher Theriault, Brian Carl-
strom, Matthew Wilson, Christine Landrum, Theresa Burwell,
Cathy Spude, David Ruppert, Rosemary Sucec, Ed Natay,
Robert Spude, James Bradford, Victoria Barela, Rhonda Romero,
Catherine Colby, John Cook, Mike Snyder, William P. O’Brien,
Craig Moore, Sarah Craighead, Tanya Gossett, Mark Lynott,
and Thomas Thiessen, all of the National Park Service; David
Halaas and Susan Collins, Colorado Historical Society, Den-
ver; Andrew Masich, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; landowners
Lee Ballantine, Frances and Charles B. Bowen Sr., Chuck and
Sheri Bowen, Scott and Melody Bowen, Roy and Marki Bowen
Laughlin, Bill and Jredia Dawson, Terry and Janet Dewitt, Marc
Goodrich, Judson Goodrich, Martha Goodrich Coate, August
“Pete” Kern, and Suzanne Tresko; archeology crew members
in 1997 and 1999 Anne Bond, Brooks Bond, William Lees, Dick
Harmon, Tom Frew, Larry Gibson, Chris Adams, Richard Fike,
Julie Coleman, Douglas McChristian and the late Mary
McChristian, Bob Rea, Ruthanna Jacobs, Larry Nelson, Todd
Nelson, Christine Landrum, Tom Baker, Norma Irwin, Robert
DeWitt; and the hardworking members of the Pikes Peak
Adventure League.

Others who contributed time and/or information include
Andy Senti, Denver, Colorado; Tom Meier, Boulder, Colorado;
Richard N. Ellis, Durango, Colorado; Sara Wiles, Boulder, Col-
orado; Sarah Tuttle, Desoto Wildlife Refuge, Missouri Valley,
Towa; Gary Roberts, Tipton, Georgia; William R. Welge and Mary
Jane Warde, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; John D. McDermott,
Rapid City, South Dakota; Scott Forsythe, Chicago, Illinois;
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The project could not have proceeded were it not for the
support, cooperation, and dedication of the Cheyenne and Ara-
paho Tribes of Oklahoma, the Northern Arapaho Tribe, and
the Northern Cheyenne Tribe, many of whose members are
descendants of the people who were at the massacre in 1864.
Many of the following tribal representatives also participated
in the archeological field survey: Northern Arapaho Tribe—
Anthony A. Addison Sr., Eugene J. Ridgely Sr., Gail J. Ridgely,
Ben S. Ridgely, Nelson P. White Sr., Hubert N. Friday, Burton
Hutchinson, Joseph Oldman, William J. C'Hair, Eugene Ridgely
Jr., Hubert Warren Sr., Edward Willow, Joe Waterman, and Jerry
Sage; Southern Cheyenne Tribe—Laird and Colleen Cometse-
vah, Edward Starr Jr., Edward White Skunk, Joe Big Medicine,
Arleigh Rhodes, Marybelle Lonebear Curtis, Gus Wilson, Car-
olyn Sandlin, Robert Tabor, Franklin Harrison, Donna San-
doval, William “Lee” Pedro, Linda DeCarlo, and Alonzo
Sankey; Southern Arapaho Tribe—June Black, Stanley Sleeper,
Mary Kay Sweezy, and Ida Mahaffie; and Northern Cheyenne
Tribe—Joe Walks Along, Norma Gourneau, Steve Brady, Lee
Lonebear, Reginald Killsnight Sr., Mildred Red Cherries, Arbu-
tus Red Woman, Patsy Riddle, Holda Roundstone, Otto Braided
Hair, Conrad Fisher, Steve Chestnut, and the late Luke Brady.

All of these people share in the success of the Sand Creek
Massacre Project, and we are grateful for their help in locating
the massacre site, a vital first step in properly protecting and
interpreting this sacred ground.
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THE SAND CREEK M ASSACRE

t dawn on November 29, 1864, more than seven hundred

U.S. volunteer soldiers commanded by Colonel John M.
Chivington attacked a village of about 500 Southern Cheyenne
and Arapaho Indians along Sand Creek in southeastern Col-
orado Territory.! Using small-arms and howitzer fire, the troops
drove the people out of their camp. While many managed to
escape the initial onslaught, others, particularly noncombatant
women, children, and the elderly, fled into and up the bottom
of the dry streambed. The soldiers followed, shooting at them
as they struggled through the sandy earth. At a point several
hundred yards above the village, the people frantically exca-
vated pits and trenches along either side of the streambed to
protect themselves. Some attempted to fight back with what-
ever weapons they had managed to retrieve from the camp,
and at several places along Sand Creek, the soldiers shot into
them from opposite banks and presently brought forward the
howitzers to blast them from their scant defenses. Over the
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course of seven hours, the troops succeeded in killing at least
150 Cheyennes and Arapahos, mostly the old, the young, and
the weak. During the afternoon and the following day, the sol-
diers wandered over the field, committing atrocities on the
dead, before departing the scene on December 1 to resume
campaigning.

Since the day it happened, the Sand Creek Massacre has
maintained its station as one of the most emotionally charged
and controversial events in American history, a seemingly
senseless frontier tragedy reflective of its time and place. The
background of Sand Creek lay in a whirlwind of events and
issues registered by the ongoing Civil War in the East and West,
the overreactions by whites on the frontier to the 1862-63
Dakota uprising in Minnesota and its aftermath, the status of
the various bands of Southern Cheyenne and Arapaho Indians
vis-a-vis each other as well as other plains tribes, the constant
undercurrent of threatened Confederate incursions, and the
existing state of politics in Colorado along with the self-aggran-
dizing machinations of individual politicians in that territory.
Perhaps most importantly, the seeds of Sand Creek lay in the
presence of two historically discordant cultures within a geo-
graphical area that both societies coveted for disparate reasons,
a situation designed to ensure conflict.

GENERAL BACKGROUND

Throughout the first years of the Civil War, Colorado officials
brooded over possible secessionist tendencies of the territory’s
populace, and apprehensions arose over Confederate influences
in Texas, the Indian Territory, and New Mexico potentially
spilling across the boundaries to disrupt Colorado’s relations
with its native inhabitants. In Colorado Territory, reports of the
Minnesota Indian conflict fostered an atmosphere of fear and
suspicion that, however unjustified, contributed to the war with
the Cheyenne and Arapaho Indians in 1864-65. During 1862
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and 1863, most regional depredations involved, not warriors
from these tribes, but Shoshones and Utes, whose repeated raids
on emigrant and mail routes south and west of Fort Laramie (in
present southeastern Wyoming) disrupted traffic and threatened
the course of settlement. Aggressive campaigning in 1863 by
columns of California and Kansas troops, including the mas-
sacre of a village of Shoshones at Bear River in present Idaho by
a force commanded by Colonel Patrick E. Connor, abruptly
ended these tribes’ forays. Meanwhile, on the plains east of the
Rocky Mountains, Indian troubles were mostly confined to
bands of Kiowas, Kiowa-Apaches, Arapahos, and occasional
Comanches, who stopped wagon trains bound over the Santa Fe
Trail; elsewhere, the Lakotas and Pawnees maintained tradi-
tional conflicts with each other, encounters with only inciden-
tal effect on regional white settlement.2

CHEYENNES AND ARAPAHOS

Of all the plains tribes, the Cheyennes and Arapahos appear to
have been the least offensive to white settlers at this particu-
lar time. Both tribes had been in the region for decades. The
Cheyennes, Algonquian-speaking people whose agriculturalist
forebears migrated from the area of the western Great Lakes,
had occupied the buffalo prairies east of the Missouri River by
the late seventeenth century. With the acquisition of horses,
their migration continued, and over the next few decades, the
Cheyennes ventured beyond the Black Hills as far north as the
Yellowstone River and south to below the Platte. By the first
part of the nineteenth century, the tribe had separated into
northern and southern bodies that still maintained strong band
and family relationships. In the conflicts that followed over
competition for lands and game resources, the Cheyennes
became noted fighters who forged strong intertribal alliances
with the Lakotas and the Arapahos. The Arapahos, Algonquian
speakers possibly from the area of northern Minnesota, had
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located west of the Missouri River by at least the late 1700s
and probably very much earlier, and by the early nineteenth
century they were variously established in what is now Mon-
tana, Wyoming, South Dakota, Nebraska, and Colorado. Their
alliance with the Cheyennes extended back to the Cheyennes’
entrance onto the eastern prairies, when both were semisedi-
mentary peoples, and was grounded in mutual enmity (at that
time) toward the Lakotas’ growing regional domination as well
as intertribal trade considerations. (Like the Cheyennes, in time
the Arapahos gravitated into northern and southern regional
divisions, with the southern group eventually coalescing in the
area that included south-central Colorado.) Despite occasional
Cheyenne-Arapaho rifts, mutual warfare with surrounding
groups during the early 1800s solidified their bond and pres-
ently included the Lakotas; together, the three tribes variously
fought warriors of the Kiowas and Crows, and in the central
plains Arapaho and Cheyenne warriors drove the Kiowas and
Comanches south of the Arkansas River. A relatively small
tribe, the Arapahos were driven by circumstances to become
resourceful in the face of intertribal conflicts and the potential
adversity wrought by the presence of Anglo-Americans.?

TREATY OF FORT WISE

In 1851 the Cheyennes and Arapahos subscribed to the Treaty
of Fort Laramie, which acknowledged their occupation of land
lying between the Platte River on the north and the Arkansas
River on the south, running from the area of the Smoky Hill
River west to the Rocky Mountains. By the late 1850s, the
southern divisions of both tribes ranged through central Kansas
and eastern Colorado as they pursued their hunting and war-
ring routine with enemy tribes and, for the most part, ignored
the gradual inroads of whites into their country. In 1857 the
Southern Cheyennes experienced a confrontation with troops
at Solomon’s Fork, Kansas, and their subsequent attitude toward
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whites had become one of tolerance and avoidance.* During
the Colorado gold rush and the concomitant movement by
whites into and through the territory, most of the Cheyennes
and Arapahos remained tranquil, and peace factions headed by
Black Kettle and White Antelope of the Cheyennes and Little
Raven of the Arapahos sought to maintain this. But the tide of
emigration associated with the gold rush, particularly along
the Platte and Arkansas valleys, led government authorities to
impose new strictures on the people.

In 1861 these chiefs touched pen to the Treaty of Fort Wise,
a document that surrendered most of the land previously pre-
scribed in the Fort Laramie Treaty and granted them instead a
triangular-shaped tract along and north of the upper Arkansas
River in eastern Colorado, where they would henceforth receive
government annuities and learn to till the soil. The accord, how-
ever, did not include the consent of all Cheyennes and Arapa-
hos living in the Platte country, and those leaders who signed
drew enduring resentment from the northerners who were
resisting such changes. Many of the affected people, including
the band of Southern Cheyenne Dog Soldiers who repudiated
the concept of any territorially confining pact, continued their
age-old pursuits in the buffalo country and refused to move onto
the new reservation. Similarly, the Kiowas and Comanches to
the south remained disinclined to participate in the treaty.S

The immediate circumstances leading to Sand Creek grew
out of the Treaty of Fort Wise and the desire of Colorado ter-
ritorial governor John Evans to seek total adherence to it by all
of the Cheyennes and Arapahos.” Within the atmosphere pre-
vailing in the wake of the Minnesota outbreak, Evans, an
ambitious visionary, became committed to eliminating all
Indians from the plains so that travel and settlement could pro-
ceed safely and without interruption; he was also interested in
seeing the transcontinental railroad reach Denver and wanted
eastern Colorado free of tribesmen to facilitate that develop-
ment. Adding to this, Evans and others feared that the tribes
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might somehow be influenced by the Confederate cause, to
include being drawn into a plan to cut communications between
the East and California by seizing posts in the Platte and
Arkansas valleys. Concentrated on the Upper Arkansas Reser-
vation, the Indians not only might be better controlled but also
would be altogether cleared from roads used by miners and set-
tlers. To this end, Evans invited the tribal leadership to attend
a council scheduled for September 1863 on the plains east of
Denver.

The Cheyennes and Arapahos were clearly not interested,
however, and none appeared to negotiate; most regarded the
treaty as a swindle and refused to subject themselves to living
on the new reserve. Moreover, they believed the area devoid
of buffalo, whereas the plains of central Kansas still afforded
plentiful herds. Coincidentally, at Fort Larned, Kansas, a Chey-
enne man was killed in an incident that fueled considerable
controversy among the Indians and hardened their resolve
against more treaties. Governor Evans took the refusal to assem-
ble as a sign that the tribes were planning war; he used the
rebuff, along with rumored incitation of area tribes by north-
ern Sioux, to promote the notion to Federal officials that hos-
tilities were imminent. Although Evans may have sincerely
believed that his territory was in grave danger, it has been sug-
gested that he lobbied to create a situation that would permit
him to forcibly remove the tribesmen from all settled areas of
Colorado.8

Evans, CHIVINGTON, AND THE PLAINS WAR OF 1864

Evans’s accomplice in the evolving scenario was Colonel John
M. Chivington, a former Methodist minister who had garnered
significant victories against Confederate troops at Apache
Canyon and Glorieta Pass in New Mexico. Nicknamed “The
Fighting Parson,” Chivington governed the Military District
of Colorado within the Department of the Missouri, whose
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commanders were often preoccupied with operations else-
where, thus affording the colonel an opportunity to play out
his military and political fortunes on the Colorado frontier.®
In January 1864, reorganization of the military hierarchy placed
Chivington’s district under Major General Samuel R. Curtis’s
Department of Kansas, a jurisdiction that remained consider-
ably immersed in campaigns against Confederates in eastern
Kansas and the Indian Territory.!® As the war proceeded in the
East, however, both Chivington and Evans grew alarmed at
seeing territorial troops increasingly diverted to help fight
Confederate forces in Missouri and Kansas. The governor lob-
bied for their return and requested that regulars be sent to
guard the crucial supply and communication links along the
Platte and Arkansas valleys. Facing widespread manpower
deficits in the Fast, Washington initially rejected his appeals.!!

Chivington endorsed Evans’s notion that the Indians in his
territory were ready for war, even though evidence indicates
that, despite the transgressions of a few warriors, the tribesmen
believed they were at peace. In April 1864, however, when live-
stock, possibly strayed from ranches in the Denver and South
Platte River areas, turned up in the hands of Cheyenne Dog
Soldiers, Evans and Chivington interpreted it as provocation
for the inception of conflict. In response, troops of the First
Colorado Cavalry skirmished with those Indians at Fremont’s
Orchard along the South Platte River. Acting on Chivington’s
orders to “kill Cheyennes wherever and whenever found,” sol-
diers during the following month assaulted numerous inno-
cent Cheyenne camps, driving out the people and destroying
their property, and in one instance killed a peace chief named
Starving Bear, who had earlier headed a delegation that met
with President Abraham Lincoln in Washington. In retaliation,
parties of warriors mounted raids along the roads in Kansas,
especially between Forts Riley and Larned, but refrained from
all-out conflict. Attempting to stem the trouble, Curtis’s inspec-
tor general advised against further Chivington-like forays and
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Fig. 1. Colonel John M. Chivington. Courtesy Western History
Department, Denver Public Library.
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instead counseled conciliation with the Cheyennes and pro-
tection of the travel routes. He complained that the Colorado
men did “not know one tribe from another and . . . will kill
anything in the shape of an Indian.”

But it was too late. Following the murders of several more
of their people, the Cheyennes escalated their raiding, and their
camps soon swelled with stolen goods. Marauding warriors
from among the Arapahos, Kiowas, and Lakotas, usually with-
out the endorsement of their chiefs, opened attacks on white
enterprises along the trails bordering the Platte, Smoky Hill,
and Arkansas Rivers in Nebraska and Kansas, killing more than
thirty people and capturing several women and children. In
Colorado warriors attacked and murdered an entire family, the
Hungates, at Box Elder Creek, only thirty miles from Denver.
Public display of the victims’ bodies, coupled with fearful pro-
nouncements from Governor Evans’s office, drove most citi-
zens from isolated ranches and communities to seek protection
in Denver. In one panicked missive to the War Department,
Governor Evans called for ten thousand troops. “Unless they
can be sent at once,” he intoned, “we will be cut off and
destroyed.” Although the Cheyennes received blame for the
Hungate tragedy, Arapahos later confessed to the deed.!2

Responding to the crisis, in July and August 1864 General
Curtis directed several columns of troops to scour the country
west, north, and south of Fort Larned. While the campaign
brought meager results, it succeeded in opening the route west
along the Arkansas because of increased garrisons at the Kansas
and Colorado posts. Curtis now strengthened his administra-
tion of the area by establishing a single district, the District of
the Upper Arkansas, commanded by Major General James G.
Blunt, to replace those that had previously monitored Indian con-
ditions. Similar administrative changes were made in Nebraska.
There, in August, Cheyennes attacked homes along the Little
Blue River, killing fifteen settlers and carrying off others. In
response Curtis mounted a strong campaign with Nebraska
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and Kansas troops to search through western Kansas, but the
soldiers found no Indians. Similarly, in September Blunt led an
expedition out of Fort Larned, eventually heading north seeking
Cheyennes reported in the area. On September 25 two compa-
nies of Colorado troops under Major Scott J. Anthony encoun-
tered a large village of Cheyennes and Arapahos at Walnut Creek
and engaged them, fighting desperately until Blunt arrived with
support. The command pursued the Indians for two days, then
withdrew from the field.

PEACE INITIATIVES

Following these operations, Blunt and Curtis became dis-
tracted from the Indian situation by a sudden Confederate
incursion into Missouri that demanded their immediate atten-
tion. The diversion permitted Colonel Chivington to step for-
ward, just at a time when the Cheyennes, Arapahos, and other
tribes began slackening the war effort in preparation for the
winter season. Buffalo hunting now superseded all else, and
Cheyenne leaders like Black Kettle, who had previously urged
peace, regained influence.!* Black Kettle learned of a procla-
mation issued by Governor Evans calling upon all “Friendly
Indians of the Plains” to divorce themselves from the warring
factions and to isolate their camps near military posts to
ensure their protection. Those who did not thus surrender
would henceforth be considered hostile. In late August the
chief notified Major Edward W. Wynkoop, commander at Fort
Lyon, along the Arkansas River near present Lamar, Colorado,
of his desire for peace.!® Following up, the major led his com-
mand from the First Colorado Cavalry out to meet Black Ket-
tle and the Arapaho leader, Left Hand, at the big timbers of the
Smoky Hill River near Fort Wallace, Kansas.!¢ At that council
the Cheyennes and Arapahos turned over several captive
whites and consented to meet with Evans and Chivington in
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Fig. 2. Black Kettle (center seated) and other chiefs at Camp Weld near Denver, 1864. Cou
History Department, Denver Public Library.
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Denver to reach an accord. Then Black Kettle and the other
leaders followed Wynkoop back to Fort Lyon.

When Black Kettle and six headmen arrived in Denver, the
city was in a turmoil because of the conditions wrought by the
Indian conflict. Incoming supplies of food and merchandise
had been stopped by the warfare, and the citizenry was still
shaken by the Hungate murders. Furthermore, in August the
governor had published a proclamation, contradicting his ear-
lier one, that called upon citizens to kill all Indians and seize
their property, effectively extending an invitation for wholesale
bloodshed and thievery. Evans had meantime received from
federal authorities permission to raise a regiment of one-hun-
dred-day U.S. volunteers, to be designated the Third Colorado
Cavalry, and Chivington was preparing it for field service. All
of these developments made Evans’s earlier pronouncements
ring hollow, especially with many of the territory’s citizens
clamoring for vengeance. Moreover, the governor needed to back
up his earlier war predictions with Washington officials and
clear up questions regarding the status of Indian lands in Col-
orado. If the tribes went unpunished now, he believed it would
likely only encourage them to renew the warfare next year.!”

At the council at Camp Weld near Denver on September
28, 1864, Evans spoke evasively to the chiefs, informing Black
Kettle that, although his people might still separate themselves
from their warring kin, they must make their peace with the
military authorities, in essence turning the situation over to
Chivington. Anxious for peace, Black Kettle and his entourage
acceded to all conditions, and Chivington told them that they
could report to Fort Lyon once they had laid down their arms.
But the Camp Weld meeting was fraught with “deadly ambi-
guities.” The Indians departed convinced that since they had
already been to the post they had made peace, though neither
Evans nor Chivington admitted that such was the case. Fur-
thermore, a telegram from General Curtis admonished, “I want
no peace until the Indians suffer more . . . [and only upon] my
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directions.” Evans notified Washington authorities of the con-
tinued hostility of the tribesmen and of the need to deal with
them by force of arms, noting that “the winter. . . is the most
favorable time for their chastisement.” Yet, in consequence of
the Camp Weld meeting, Black Kettle prepared his people to
accept the conditions and surrender themselves as prisoners
of war.!8

First to arrive in late October at Fort Lyon were 113 lodges
of Arapahos under Little Raven and Left Hand. Because as pris-
oners the Arapahos could not hunt, Major Wynkoop issued
rations to the destitute people while assuring them of their
safety. But this action directly countered General Curtis’s pol-
icy of punishing the tribes, and when word of the major’s char-
ity reached district headquarters at Fort Riley, tempers flared.
Wynkoop was summarily called there to explain his actions.
Major Anthony, of Chivington’s First Colorado Cavalry, replaced
him at Fort Lyon. On arrival at Fort Lyon in early November,
Anthony refused the Arapahos further provisions and tem-
porarily disarmed them. When Black Kettle reached the fort,
he reported that his lodges were pitched some forty miles away
at Sand Creek, a location that Anthony approved because he
had no rations to feed the Cheyennes. The major told them that
he was seeking authority to feed them at Fort Lyon. Wynkoop,
who the Indians trusted, had given them assurances of Anthony’s
integrity, and the Cheyenne leaders had accepted these condi-
tions prior to Wynkoop’s departure from Fort Lyon on Novem-
ber 26. Advised to join Black Kettle’s people at Sand Creek,
only the Arapaho leader Left Hand complied and started his
few lodges in that direction; Little Raven took his followers far
away down the Arkansas.

MILITARY PREPARATIONS

Meanwhile, Colonel Chivington orchestrated events in Den-
ver that would climax in the confrontation with the Cheyennes
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and Arapahos at Sand Creek. Following a failed statehood vote,
in which he was defeated as a candidate for Congress, Chiv-
ington directed his efforts to readying the new regiment, locally
castigated as the “Bloodless Third” because its members had
yet to kill a single Indian, which was fast approaching the end
of its men’s one-hundred-day enlistments. Composed of but
partly trained officers and undisciplined men from the local
community, the Third Colorado Cavalry had been organized
by Colonel George L. Shoup, who had previously served under
Chivington.!® Earlier that fall, Chivington had envisioned
attacking bands of Cheyennes reported in the Republican River
country, but by November (and perhaps secretly all along) he
targeted Black Kettle and his people; his every movement
appeared calculated to that end, for the tribesmen technically
were not at peace and were awaiting Curtis’s consent before
moving to Fort Lyon. In October, amid this tense atmosphere,
Colonel Chivington armed his command and, with Shoup com-
manding the regiment, started companies to assemble at Bijou
Basin, sixty miles southeast of Denver.2

On November 14 Chivington himself marched out of
Denver with companies of the Third and First Colorado Cav-
alry regiments headed toward the Arkansas River. The weather
turned foul, and the movement was beset with drifting snows
that delayed units from rendezvousing at Camp Fillmore, near
Pueblo. On the twenty-third Chivington inspected his united
command, then all proceeded east along the Arkansas. The
troops reached Fort Lyon at midday, November 28. Chivington
had traveled quickly and quietly, and his approach surprised
the garrison. To keep his presence and movements secret, the
colonel placed a cordon of pickets around the fort and refused
to allow anybody to leave. At Fort Lyon, Major Anthony greeted
Chivington and, apprised of his mission to find and destroy
Black Kettle’s camp as a prelude to striking the Smoky Hill
villages, gave his wholehearted support to the extent of pro-
viding additional troops and offering guidance to the village.
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Some officers protested that Black Kettle’s people were de facto
prisoners of the government, awaiting only General Curtis’s
permission before they should arrive at the post, and that to
strike them would violate promises made earlier by Wynkoop
as well as by Anthony. Chivington responded that it was “right
and honorable to use any means under God’s heaven to kill
Indians that would kill women and children, and ‘damn any
man that was in sympathy with Indians.’”’2!

At around 8:00 r.m. on the twenty-eighth, Chivington led
his column out of Fort Lyon and moved parallel to an old
Indian trail that headed northeast. Scarcely any snow lay on
the ground. His command consisted of Shoup’s Third Colorado
Cavalry and about one half of the First Colorado Cavalry,
divided under Major Anthony and First Lieutenant Luther
Wilson, in all about 725 men bundled in heavy overcoats.
Mules pulled along four howitzers and their ammunition and
equipment. Some thirty-seven miles away on the northeast
side of Sand Creek stood Black Kettle’s village of approximately
one hundred lodges housing about five hundred people. Other
Cheyenne leaders in the camp were Sand Hill, White Antelope,
Bear Tongue, One Eye, and War Bonnet, and the few tipis of
Arapahos with Left Hand stood detached a short distance
away.22 Although some men were present, many had gone
hunting, leaving mostly women, children, and the elderly in
the village. Through the night of November 28-29, all were
oblivious to the closing proximity of the soldiers.?

THE MASSACRE

Chivington'’s force kept a lively pace through the cold, moon-
less night, so that the first streaks of dawn on November 29
revealed the white tipis of the Cheyennes a few miles off to
the northwest. Advancing closer, the soldiers gained a ridge
overlooking Sand Creek from which they could clearly discern
the camp. Pony herds ranged on either side of the stream, and
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Chivington dispatched units to capture and corral the animals
before the Indians might use them. As the tribesmen slowly
awakened, the troops descended into the dry streambed and
moved northwest along it, with the howitzers in tow. About
a half mile from the village, Chivington halted the men so that
they could remove their overcoats and other luggage. He
exhorted them at the prospect before them, then sent them for-
ward toward the camp, whose occupants had gradually become
aroused at the noise of the approaching horsemen. Nearing the
lower end of the village, the soldiers deployed their force along
both sides of the stream. As the startled Indians ran out of their
homes, howitzers hurled exploding shells that turned the peo-
ple away to congregate near the westernmost lodges while
their leaders tried to communicate with the attackers. Then
shooting erupted everywhere. The leader White Antelope ran
forward, arms raised and waving for attention, but a soldier’s
bullet cut him down. Black Kettle, proponent for peace and
guardian of his people, reportedly raised an American flag and
a white flag on a pole near his lodge to announce his status,
but it was ignored in the heat of action.

Chivington’s command kept up their small-arms fire from
positions northeast and southeast of the camp. Caught in a
crossfire, the warriors responded by attempting to shield the
women, children, and elderly who ran to the back of the lodges.
Most of the howitzer rounds fell short of their mark, though
some burst over the village. As the soldiers advanced on horse-
back along either side of the creek, they maintained their shoot-
ing, and those on the north (east) bank of the stream passed
through the fringe of the camp. The mass of people began to
flee in all directions for safety. Many ran into and up the creek
bottom, which appeared to afford a natural protective corridor
leading away from the assault. Riding on either side of the Indi-
ans, however, the cavalrymen indiscriminately fired hundreds
of rounds into the fleeing tribesmen and began to inflict large
numbers of casualties among them. Meantime, other Indians
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bolting the village at the opening of the attack had managed to
obtain horses and were running generally north and southwest
over the open terrain as they tried to elude squads of pursuing
Coloradoans. Many of them were chased down and killed by
the flying troops.

But it was the mass of people in the streambed that drew
the attention of most of the soldiers. As they reached a point
variously estimated to be from two hundred yards to a half
mile above the village, these people—composed mostly of non-
combatants—sought to find shelter in hastily dug pits and
trenches in the creek bed, most excavated by hand at the base
of the dry stream’s banks. The Sand Creek bottom was several
hundred yards wide at this point, and the people sought shel-
ter along either side, digging hiding places and throwing the
sand and dirt outward to form protective barriers. Having pur-
sued the Cheyennes and Arapahos to this location, the troops
dismounted on the edges of the stream and approached cau-
tiously. Some began firing at Indians sheltered in the pits
beneath the opposite side, while others crawled forward and
discharged their weapons blindly over the top of the bank.
Thus trapped, the people fought back desperately with what
few weapons they possessed. Shortly, however, the howitzers
arrived from downstream, took positions on either side of the
Sand Creek bottom, and began delivering exploding shells into
the pits. This bombardment, coupled with the steady fire of
the cavalry small arms, was too much for the Indians, and by
the time the affair was over at around 2:00 p.m., at least 150
Cheyennes and Arapahos lay dead, most of them killed during
the slaughter in the defensive pits above the village or in the
streambed as they ran from the camp to elude the soldiers.
Chivington lost nine men killed and thirty-eight wounded in
the encounter. Throughout the balance of the day, parties of
cavalrymen roamed the area for miles around finishing off any
survivors they could find. That night, nonetheless, many of
those wounded during the carnage managed to get away from
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the pits and join other village escapees who, over the next sev-
eral days, journeyed northeast to the Cheyenne camps along the